FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
11/21/2019 1:13 PM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

No. 97879-4

SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 51479-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

ROBERT C. TERHUNE and TARA TERHUNE, husband and wife;  
and EQUITY GROUP NWEST LLC, a  
Delaware Limited Liability Company,  
Petitioners

v.

NORTH CASCADE TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., a Washington  
corporation; DOE DEFENDANTS 1-10, inclusive,  
Defendants

U.S. BANK TRUST, N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR LSF9 MASTER  
PARTICIPATION TRUST, a National Association;  
and CALIBER HOME LOANS, INC.,  
Respondents

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Michele K. McNeill

#### **A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Robert C. Terhune, Tara Terhune and Equity Group NWest LLC, appellants below and owners of the real property at issue in this case, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decisions terminating review. See Part B of this petition.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Terhune v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 9 Wn.App.2d 708, 446 P.3d 683 (Div. 2 2019), filed August 13, 2019. See Appendix, pages A-1 through A-9. The Petitioners also seek review of the Court of Appeals' order denying the Petitioners' motion for reconsideration, filed October 24, 2019. See Appendix, page A-10.

#### **C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Does the statute of limitations bar a beneficiary from commencing a non-judicial foreclosure proceeding to collect the entire loan balance, including interest, late fees, costs and attorneys' fees, as set out in a notice of trustee's sale, without any court oversight, where some of the installment payments are statutorily barred from enforcement?

2. Can an alleged beneficiary establish itself as the holder of a promissory note indorsed in blank based on testimony from the



beneficiary's agent where the testimony is not based on personal knowledge or review of the alleged beneficiary's business records?

3. Can an alleged beneficiary establish itself as the holder of a promissory note indorsed in blank based on a DTA declaration of beneficiary that is signed by the beneficiary's agent where "the applicable business records" that form the basis of the declaration is ambiguous?

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**1. U.S. Bank Trust commenced a non-judicial foreclosure almost eight years after the last payment was made on an installment contract without sufficient evidence that it was the holder of the note indorsed in blank**

The Terhunes executed a promissory note for \$1,499,999 in favor of Countrywide Bank (Countrywide). (CP 488-493). The note was secured by a deed of trust on the Terhunes' home. (CP 495-515). The monthly payments were \$8,124.99 beginning March 1, 2008 with a maturity date of February 1, 2038. (CP 488-489; CP 87, ¶ 5).

In November of 2008, the Terhunes were no longer able to meet their financial obligations through no fault of their own and defaulted on the note. (CP 477). On December 17, 2008, Countrywide issued a Notice of Intent to Accelerate to the Terhune. (CP 158-159; CP 87, ¶ 6). The amount required to cure the default and avoid acceleration

included a past due payment for November and December 2008 plus a late charge. (CP 158). The November payment was paid in late December 2008. (CP 87, ¶ 7; CP 478, ¶ 10). Countrywide issued a second Notice of Intent to Accelerate on January 16, 2009 that included a past due payment for December 2008 and January 2009 plus a late charge. (CP 161-162; CP 87, ¶ 7). The December payment was paid on January 22, 2009. (CP 87, ¶ 8; CP 478, ¶ 10). A third and final Notice of Intent to Accelerate was issued on February 17, 2009. (CP 164-165).

The January 16, 2009 acceleration notice states in relevant part as follows:

If the default is not cured on or before February 15, 2009, the mortgage payments **will be accelerated** with the full amount remaining accelerated and becoming due and payable in full, and foreclosure proceedings will be initiated at that time.

...

Failure to bring your loan current or to enter into a written agreement by February 15, 2009 as outlined above will result in the acceleration of your debt."

(bold type in original). (CP 520-521). The Notice also states:

You may, if required by law or your loan documents, have the right to cure the default after the acceleration of the mortgage payments and prior to the foreclosure sale of your property if all amounts past due are paid within the time permitted by law.

(CP 520). This language comports with Section 19 of the Terhunes' deed of trust that allows the discontinuance of a foreclosure sale with payment of "all sums due *as if no acceleration had occurred.*" (CP 502) (emphasis added). The language in the third Notice of Acceleration is identical but the deadline to cure the default to avoid acceleration was March 19, 2009. (CP 164).

The last payment made on the note was on January 22, 2009 for the December 2008 payment. (CP 478, ¶ 10). Under the express terms of the Countrywide notice of intent to accelerate, the Terhunes considered the mortgage payments accelerated with "the full amount remaining accelerated and becoming due and payable in full" as set out in the notice. (CP 478-479, 520).

On or about July 6, 2011, the Terhunes received a letter from BAC Home Loans telling them that the total amount owed on their note was the full balance of the loan, including all arrears. The letter also said the "creditor to whom the debt is owed" was BANA CWB CIG HFI 1<sup>ST</sup> LIENS. (CP 481, 537-539).

In March 2015, the Terhune received a letter that said their note had been sold to "LSF9 Master Participation Trust" with a mailing address c/o Caliber Home Loans, Inc. U.S. Bank Trust is not mentioned in this letter. (CP 481, 551).

On October 13, 2015, Caliber executed an Appointment of Successor Trustee as an alleged attorney in fact for U.S. Bank Trust

to appoint North Cascade as successor Trustee. (CP 553-554). On December 8, 2015, Caliber, this time as an alleged attorney in fact for Bank of America, N.A., recorded an Assignment of Deed of Trust to convey the Terhunes' deed of trust to U.S. Bank Trust (CP 556-557).

On October 11, 2016, North Cascade Trustee Services issued a Notice of Trustee's Sale on behalf of U.S. Bank Trust with a nonjudicial foreclosure sale date set for February 17, 2017. (CP 286-289). The notice provides that the Terhunes' primary residence "will be sold to satisfy the expense of sale and the obligations secured by the Deed of Trust as provided by statute." (CP 288). The obligations secured by the Terhunes' deed of trust is the repayment of the debt evidenced by the Terhunes' promissory note, plus interest and late charges. (CP 496).

The Terhunes commenced this action in 2017 in Pierce County Superior Court, alleging in their Amended Complaint that the statute of limitations on their promissory note and deed of trust contracts had expired, and they were entitled to injunctive relief in part because U.S. Bank Trust was not the holder of their promissory note which was indorsed in blank. (CP 5-13). No counterclaims were filed.



**2. The Court of Appeals held the statute of limitations did not bar the non-judicial foreclosure even though some of the installment payments are uncollectable, and held U.S. Bank Trust to be the holder of the note despite the absence of any firsthand knowledge or observation evidence in the record**

U.S. Bank Trust and Caliber filed a joint motion for summary judgment supported by one declaration from an employee of Caliber. (CP 57-84, CP 85-309). The Caliber employee states he only reviewed Caliber's business records. (CP 85-92). The Declaration of Beneficiary required by RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) was signed only by an "authorized signatory" of Caliber. The Terhunes questioned the sufficiency of the evidence as to whether U.S. Bank Trust was the actual holder of the note. (CP 467-469, RP 9). The trial court granted U.S. Bank Trust and Caliber's joint summary judgment motion. (CP 597-599).

The Terhunes filed a motion for reconsideration where they argued the notice of acceleration was of a certain future event, and at a minimum the installment payments on the note that were not paid from January 1, 2009 to October 1, 2010 (for a total of \$232,428.66) were still rendered unenforceable by the statute of limitations even if acceleration on the entire loan had not occurred. (CP 602-614; CP 113-114). The Terhunes also argued an issue of material fact remained as to whether U.S. Bank Trust was the actual

holder of the note. (CP 610-612). The motion for reconsideration was denied. (CP 634).

Division 2 accepted review of the trial court decisions and affirmed. (A-1 to A-9). In a published decision, the Court of Appeals held the statute of limitations did not bar the foreclosure action “because there was no clear and unequivocal acceleration of the promissory note,” (Op. ¶ 3), and there was no genuine issue of material fact as to whether U.S. Bank Trust was the holder of the promissory note. (Op. ¶ 3). Division 2 also held it was “immaterial” if the statute of limitations had run on the earlier missed installment payments because U.S. Bank Trust was only seeking to sell the Terhunes’ home at a non-judicial foreclosure sale. (Op. ¶ 61, FN 5). On October 24, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied Terhunes’ motion for reconsideration. (A-10).

## **E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

### **1. Standard of Review**

Discretionary acceptance by the Supreme Court of a petition for review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review typically fall within four prescribed circumstances. RAP 13.4(b). Here, review is appropriate because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, and it involves an issue of substantial

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

This petition involves an issue of substantial public interest for two reasons. First, whether the statute of limitations prevents collection of all or part of a loan is not something that should be left for a beneficiary or its agent to determine in a non-judicial foreclosure proceeding without court oversight, which is essentially the form of relief the Court of Appeals has given the Terhunes that the lower courts will follow.

Second, it is unfairly prejudicial for a borrower to be burdened with proving who has possession of their promissory note when the alleged beneficiary relies solely on an agent's testimony derived only from the agent's review of the agent's business records and the beneficiary declaration required by RCW 61.24.030(7) is not signed by the alleged beneficiary.

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with this Court's holding that lay witness opinion testimony "must be based on firsthand knowledge or observation." *SentinelC3, Inc. v. Hunt*, 181 Wn. 2d 127, 142, 331 P.3d 40 (2014) (citing ER 701).

**2. Whether the statute of limitations had run on earlier missed payments is material and should not be left up to the beneficiary or trustee to resolve in a non-judicial foreclosure sale absent court oversight**

A negotiable instrument is not dependent upon any other document for its validity. RCW 62A.3–104. A mortgage, however, is dependent upon the validity of the underlying obligation to be enforceable. See *Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Maryland v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.*, 88 Wn.App. 64, 67-68, 943 P.2d 710 (1997). The Terhunes argue that the statute of limitations bars collection of all or some of their promissory note, and as a result sought to quiet title and to enjoin U.S. Bank Trust and Caliber from foreclosing on their home to pay off the entire loan. (CP 5-18, 454-475, 602-614). The Court of Appeals held the statute of limitations did not bar the foreclosure action “because there was no clear and unequivocal acceleration of the promissory note,” (Op. ¶ 3), and it was “immaterial” if the statute of limitations had run on the earlier missed installment payments because U.S. Bank Trust was only seeking to sell the Terhunes’ home at a non-judicial foreclosure sale. (Op. ¶ 61, FN 5).

The Court of Appeals opinion negates the parties’ contracts and the Deeds of Trust Act, chapter 61.24 RCW (“DTA”). The purpose of a non-judicial foreclosure sale is to collect “all sums” owed on the promissory note, (CP 504, ¶ 22, CP 286-289). The Terhunes’ also have an interest in the sale proceeds that exceed the amount



owed to the beneficiary. RCW 61.24.080(3). In a non-judicial foreclosure sale, the trustee applies the proceeds from the sale to the expense of the sale and then to “the obligation secured by the deed of trust.” RCW 61.24.080(1)-(2). The obligation secured by the Terhunes’ deed of trust is “all sums” secured by the deed of trust. (CP 504, ¶ 22). The total amount secured by the deed of trust is determined by the beneficiary as set out in the notice of trustee’s sale. (CP 286-289). After the surplus proceeds are deposited into the Superior Court registry by the trustee, “the trustee shall be discharged from all further responsibilities for the surplus.” RCW 61.24.080(3).

Even assuming the Court of Appeals is correct and the Countrywide notice of intent to accelerate was insufficient to accelerate the note even though the notice was designed to convince the borrower that acceleration would actually occur without further notice or demand if the loan was not brought current on or before a date certain, there is still \$232,428.66 worth of installment payments on the Terhunes’ note that fall outside the six year statutory window for enforcement. (CP 610). The Court of Appeals declined to address whether the statute of limitations applied to the earlier missed payments; Instead, this was left open for the parties to address “in the foreclosure proceeding.” (Op. FN 5).

A borrower “has recourse to the courts pursuant to RCW 61.24.130 to contest the alleged default on any proper ground.” RCW 61.24.030(8)(j). RCW 61.24.130 governs the restraint of a trustee’s sale, which a borrower may seek “on any proper legal or equitable ground.” RCW 61.24.130(1). The notice of trustee sale also informs the borrower that “[a]nyone having any objection to the sale on any grounds whatsoever will be afforded an opportunity to be heard as to those objections if they bring a lawsuit to restrain the sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.130.” RCW 61.24.040(2)(d)(IX); CP 289, § IX. The Terhunes commenced their lawsuit to enjoin the defendants from selling their home to collect on a note they believed was unenforceable in whole or in part. Had they not done so, they would have lost their home and possibly waived their claim for damages on the unenforceability of the missed installment payments. (CP 289, § IX; RCW 61.24.127).

Under RCW 61.24.127, the failure to bring a civil action to enjoin a non-judicial foreclosure sale of an owner-occupied residence will not waive a claim for damages if the claim asserts:

- (a) Common law fraud or misrepresentation;
- (b) A violation of Title 19 RCW;
- (c) Failure of the trustee to materially comply with the provisions of this chapter; or

(d) A violation of RCW 61.24.026 (notice to senior beneficiary).

In *Merry v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 188 Wn. App. 174, 352 P.3d 830 (Div. 3 2015), the plaintiff sought to establish entitlement to a portion of the sale proceeds from a non-judicial foreclosure sale. But, because he took no action to restrain the trustee's sale, the defendants successfully argued that the plaintiff's interest in the proceeds was eliminated by the sale and he had waived any right to set the sale aside. *Id.*, 188 Wn. App. at 177. Division 1 in *Patrick v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 196 Wn. App. 398, 385 P.3d 165 (Div. 1 2016), *review denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1022, 390 P.3d 346 (2017) held the borrowers waived their claims for negligence, intentional infliction of emotional distress, breach of contract, criminal profiteering, and civil conspiracy, which arose out of a non-judicial foreclosure, because they failed to use the DTA's presale injunction procedure.

A statute of limitations argument on missed installment payments that is left to be "addressed in the foreclosure proceeding" (Op. FN 5), will cause confusion in the lower courts. It negates the purpose of the DTA's presale injunction procedure and is contrary to our case law. Absent a decision on whether the statute of limitations has run on 22 of the Terhunes' earlier missed installment contract payments, the Terhunes will be faced with commencing yet another lawsuit in the next foreclosure proceeding to avoid waiving their claim

that the beneficiary is barred from collecting some of the missed installment payments from the foreclosure sale proceeds. Even if the claim were to fall within the protection of RCW 61.24.127, there is nothing to prevent the beneficiary from collecting all past due installments in a non-judicial foreclosure sale absent “recourse to the courts”. RCW 61.24.030(8)(j).

Whether the statute of limitations has run on the earlier missed installment payments raises a genuine issue of material fact that the Court of Appeals should not have summarily disregarded. U.S. Bank Trust was not just seeking to sell the Terhunes’ home at a non-judicial foreclosure sale (Op. ¶¶ 61); They were seeking to collect “all sums” owed on a promissory note where at least some of those sums are statutorily barred from collection. (CP 504, ¶ 22, CP 286-289).

**3. Allowing a beneficiary to establish itself as the holder of a note based on a servicing agent’s testimony that is not based on personal knowledge or review of the beneficiary’s business records conflicts with this Court’s decisions**

“[O]nly the beneficiary has the power to appoint a trustee or successor trustee.” *McDonald v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, 929 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1086 (W.D. Wash. 2013) (citing RCW 61.24.010(2)). “[O]nly the actual holder of the promissory note or other instrument evidencing the obligation may be a beneficiary with the power to



appoint a trustee to proceed with a nonjudicial foreclosure on real property.” *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp, Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 89, 285 P.3d 34 (2012). After the Terhunes’ note was indorsed in blank, the person or entity “with possession of it” was the holder of the note. *Bavand v. OneWest Bank*, 196 Wn. App. 813, 845, 385 P.3d 233 (Div. 1 2016) (2016); RCW 62A.1–201(21)(A); RCW 62A.3–205(b).

To establish U.S. Bank Trust as the holder of the Terhunes’ note, the Court of Appeals relies on the declaration of a Caliber employee, Nathaniel Mansi, (Op. ¶ 20), which was the only declaration filed in support of the Respondents’ motion for summary judgment. (CP 69). Mr. Mansi in turn relies on his “review of Caliber’s business records” to assert that U.S. Bank Trust, a separate and distinct entity, has possession of the note. (CP 86, ¶ 1, 3).

A lay witness opinion testimony “must be based on firsthand knowledge or observation.” *SentinelC3, Inc. v. Hunt*, 181 Wn. 2d 127, 142, 331 P.3d 40 (2014) (citing ER 701); *See also, State v. Fallentine*, 149 Wn.App. 614, 215 P.3d 945 (Div. 1 2009) (where lay witness testimony relates to a core element the State must prove, there must be a substantial factual basis supporting the opinion). There is nothing in Mr. Mansi’s declaration to show he had firsthand knowledge or observed firsthand what U.S. Bank Trust actually had in its possession. (CP 85-92). Therefore, the Court of Appeals erred in holding that Mr. Mansi’s declaration, based solely on his review of

Caliber's business records, was sufficient to prove U.S. Bank Trust had possession of the Terhunes' note when it appointed a successor trustee or commenced the non-judicial foreclosure. (Op. ¶ 56-57).

**4. Whether a DTA beneficiary declaration can be signed by an agent to establish the beneficiary as the holder of the note raises an issue of substantial public interest**

The Court of Appeals holds there is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether U.S. Bank Trust is the holder of the note, (Op. ¶ 51, 57), even though U.S. Bank Trust did not sign the beneficiary declaration as required by RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), and the agent's signature renders the DTA declaration ambiguous.

A beneficiary declaration signed pursuant to the DTA by someone other than the beneficiary is not sufficient proof that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the note under the express language of the DTA. See RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). Before a notice of trustee's sale involving residential property is recorded, transmitted, or served, "the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust." RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)(2012)<sup>1</sup>. This subsection goes on to state:

*A declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other*

---

<sup>1</sup> In June 2018, the term "owner" was replaced with "holder". RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) (2018); A-28.

obligation secured by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection.

RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)(2012)<sup>2</sup> (emphasis added). Compare this to RCW 61.24.031(9), which allows a Foreclosure Loss Mitigation Form to be executed by the “beneficiary or authorized agent for the beneficiary.” If the DTA beneficiary declaration was intended to be signed by a beneficiary’s authorized agent, then our legislature would have allowed for this option, but it did not.

This Court also held in *Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass’n* that genuine issues of material fact regarding whether the beneficiary declarations were proper, and whether they could be relied on to show that the beneficiary was the actual owner of the note, precluded summary judgment on mortgagor’s Consumer Protection Act (CPA) claim against the trustee. *Lyons*, 181 Wn. 2d 775, 789, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014). Here, the Terhunes sought injunctive relief to prevent the mortgagor from selling their home because they questioned whether the mortgagor had possession of their note when it appointed the trustee and commenced the non-judicial foreclosure. (CP 5-18; 454-475; 602-614). Similar to *Lyons*, the beneficiary declaration in this case cannot be relied on to show that U.S. Bank Trust is the actual holder of the note.

---

<sup>2</sup> In June 2018, the term “actual” was removed and “any promissory note” replaced “the promissory note.” RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)(2018); A-28.

The beneficiary declaration in this case was executed by an “authorized signatory” from Caliber, as attorney in fact, based on “a review of the applicable business records.” (CP 559). First, there is nothing in the record to show U.S. Bank Trust appointed Caliber as its attorney in fact despite discovery requests that required production of such evidence. (CP 481-82, ¶ 26). Second, the declaration is ambiguous regarding the actual records that Caliber’s “authorized signatory” relied upon, especially when Caliber’s declaration discussed in section 3 above provides that only Caliber’s business records were reviewed. (CP 86, ¶ 4).

Expecting the borrower to prove that U.S. Bank Trust is not the holder of the note places an unreasonable burden on the borrower to prove a negative proposition which the law does not require them to do. The question of whether a beneficiary has actual possession of an instrument is peculiarly within the knowledge of the beneficiary and cannot be readily determined by a borrower or another entity or a trustee for that matter, ergo the DTA provision that requires the beneficiary, and only the beneficiary, to execute a declaration based on personal knowledge. RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). To impose upon the borrower the burden of proving a negative, i.e., the absence of a negotiable instrument in the hands of another, is illogical and unjust. It is also not what the DTA contemplates and is unduly prejudicial to borrowers.



The DTA requires that “the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the holder of any promissory note.” RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). And, only a “declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of perjury . . . shall be sufficient proof . . .” *Id.* Here, we do not have a declaration signed by the alleged beneficiary, and the actual records reviewed by the signatory is ambiguous. The entity that Caliber claims holds the Terhunes’ note is silent on the issue.

“In many jurisdictions it is accepted that a burden of proof may for certain sorts of facts be upon the accused. Certainly, the second burden, i.e. the duty of producing some evidence [ ], ought in some instances to be upon the accused.”

*City of Seattle v. Parker*, 2 Wn. App. 331, 333, 467 P.2d 858, 860 (Div. 1 1970), quoting 9 J. Wigmore, *Evidence* s 2512 (3d ed. 1940). Here, a DTA beneficiary declaration should not be sufficient if it is signed by anyone other than the beneficiary, or, if an agent’s declaration is to be considered sufficient, then the agent’s signatory should at a minimum establish that they have at some point reviewed the business records of the beneficiary if the declaration is to be deemed sufficient proof that the beneficiary is the holder of the note.

## **F. CONCLUSION**

This Court should accept review for the reasons indicated in Part E and reverse or modify the Court of Appeals decision to enjoin the beneficiary from collecting the entire debt that the statute of

limitations bars in whole or in part, regardless of the method of collection, and to enjoin U.S. Bank Trust and Caliber, and their employees, agents, trustees, successors and assigns, from scheduling another non-judicial foreclosure sale absent evidence based on personal knowledge and observation that U.S. Bank Trust or their successors or assigns, has actual possession of the Terhune's promissory note.