FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/6/2020 11:29 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97879-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT C. TERHUNE, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

U.S. BANK TRUST, N.A. as Trustee for LSF9 Master Participation Trust and CALIBER HOME LOANS, INC.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas N. Abbott, WSBA No. 53024 TAbbott@perkinscoie.com PERKINS COIE LLP 505 Howard Street, Suite 1000 San Francisco, CA 94105-3204 Telephone: 415.344.7000

Facsimile: 415.344.7050

Attorneys for Respondents U.S. BANK TRUST, N.A. as Trustee for LSF9 Master Participation Trust and CALIBER HOME LOANS, INC.

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The Rules of Appellate Procedure state that a petition for review will be accepted by the Court "only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the

Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

The Terhunes' petition is based on RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Pet. at 10-11. However, the Terhunes simply argue that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment. The Supreme Court of Washington is not simply an "error-checking" court; rather, it reviews limited categories of cases in the exercise of its discretion within the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Even if the Terhunes' asserted basis for seeking discretionary review were one of the bases on which the Court grants review, there is still no reason to grant review of the Terhunes' case because the Terhunes' arguments are incorrect. The unanimous Court of Appeals did not "negate[] the parties' contracts and the Deeds of Trust Act..." Petition at 12. Neither did it render a decision conflicting with this Court's holding in SentinelC3, Inc. v. Hunt. Pet. at 11, 17. Rather, the Court of Appeals merely made the routine decision of applying well-established case law to the facts of the case and concluded that the evidence was insufficient to create a triable issue of fact. If the Terhunes were correct that this constitutes error worthy of Supreme Court review, the Court would need to grant review of every Court of Appeals' decision affirming a trial court

grant of summary judgment, which, of course, this Court does not do. French v. Uribe, Inc., 132 Wash. App. 1 (2006), review denied, 158 Wash. 2d 1022 (2006); Zipp v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 36 Wash. App. 598 (1984), review denied, 101 Wash. 2d 1023 (1984).

In sum, there is no reason to review this case because the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any decision of this Court, nor does it present any other issue of substantial public importance warranting review.

A. There Are No Grounds For Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) Because the Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Conflict With a Decision of the Supreme Court

This case presents no issue of a conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeals and a decision of the Supreme Court as required by RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Terhunes argue that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the holding in *SentinelC3*, *Inc. v. Hunt*, 181 Wash. 2d 127 (2014). Pet. 11, 17. However, *SentinelC3* does not support the Terhunes' cause.

SentinelC3 concerned a judicial proceeding to determine the fair value of shares in a closely held corporation. SentinelC3, Inc., 181 Wash. 2d at 132. The issue on appeal was whether the respondent shareholders "presented sufficient evidence to defeat the [petitioner] corporation's motion for summary judgment." Id. Respondents filed an opposition to

summary judgment that relied on a party affidavit indicating respondents had retained an expert who <u>would</u> testify as to the value of the shares and that their expert was still analyzing the financial records obtained in discovery. *Id.* Critically, the respondents did not submit an affidavit from their expert. Rather, they attempted to summarize what the expert would say once he completed his analysis of the financial records. *Id.* at 136. As such, the respondents submitted lay testimony in place of an expert because their expert was not ready to sign his own affidavit.

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Sentinel and denied the respondents' motion for reconsideration. *SentinelC3* at 138. The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the lay submission by the respondents predicting what their expert would say was sufficient to create a triable issue of fact. *Id.* ("The Court of Appeals concluded that the Respondents created a genuine issue of material fact just by asserting that they had consulted an expert who disagreed with Sentinel's valuation.") This Court reversed, finding that the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Sentinel, explaining:

The Court of Appeals erred in ruling that the Respondents' assertions were sufficient to defeat summary judgment. First, to defeat a motion for summary judgment, a party must present more than "[u]ltimate facts" or conclusory statements. *Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wash.2d 355,

359–60, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) (mere "supposition or opinion" insufficient to defeat summary judgment). The Respondents' beliefs about secret deals and pending sales do not meet this standard, because they were not based on any actual evidence.

Id. at 140.

Here, neither U.S. Bank nor Caliber summarize what an expert witness *might* testify to later on. Rather, as noted by the Court of Appeals, the "record contains two pieces of evidence showing that U.S. Bank is the holder of the Terhunes' note." *Terhune*, 446 P.3d at 691. Specifically, U.S. Bank and Caliber relied on a declaration from an employee at Caliber regarding his review of the loan file and U.S. Bank's possession of the note. In addition, the record showed a beneficiary declaration signed by Caliber as attorney in fact for U.S. Bank stating that U.S. Bank was the actual holder of the Terhunes' note. Id. The Court of Appeals found that "[t]his evidence satisfied U.S. Bank's *initial burden* of proving that there was no genuine issue of material fact." Id. (emphasis added). And, that the "burden then shifted to the Terhunes to present specific facts that demonstrated a genuine issue of material fact." Id. The Terhunes simply failed to introduce evidence to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact. Instead, they attacked U.S. Bank and Caliber's evidence and offered only "supposition or opinion" of their own.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals referred to this Court's opinion in *Bain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group, Inc.* for guidance on whether an agent—such as the loan servicer, Caliber—can represent the holder of the note. *Terhune*, 446 P.3d at 691 (quoting *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.*, 175 Wash. 2d 83, 106 (2012)). Citing well established principals, the Court of Appeals explained that Caliber could act as an agent for U.S. Bank as the holder of the Terhunes' note and the record lacked any evidence from the Terhunes to create a trial issue of fact on this point.

The Court of Appeals did not run afoul of *SentinelC3*. Rather, it measured U.S. Bank and Caliber's evidence as sufficient to initially shift the burden and the Terhunes simply did not provide anything to shift it back. There is no basis on which to conclude that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with *SentinelC3* or any other decision of this Court.

Accordingly, there are no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. There Are No Grounds For Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because the Decision of the Court of Appeals Has Very Limited Impact

This case presents no issue of substantial public importance required by RAP 13.4(b)(4) for the Court to grant review either. The Terhunes argue that "whether the statute of limitations had run on earlier missed payments" is of substantial public importance. Pet. at 11-12. They

also argue that it is "unfairly prejudicial for a borrower to be burdened with proving who has possession of their promissory note..." Pet. at 11, 18. They are wrong on each point.

1. The Statute of Limitations on Earlier Missed Payments

The Terhunes argue that the beneficiary or trustee should not determine whether the statute of limitations has run on earlier missed payments absent court oversight. Pet. at 12. This argument is based on the unsound premise that a hypothetical fact is permitted when considering a motion under CR 56. It is well established that CR 56 motions do not permit hypothetical facts. Therefore, this argument does not provide a basis for review because hypothetical facts in the context of a CR 56 motion is not of substantial public importance.

The Terhunes base their argument on a hypothetical foreclosure sale. *See* Pet. at 12-13 ("The Terhunes also have an interest in the sale proceeds that exceed the amount owed to the beneficiary.") However, because there has been no foreclosure sale, there are no sale proceeds. *See id.* at 687; *see also* CP. Indeed, the Terhunes cite to nothing in the CP that would suggest a sale has occurred.

Unlike a CR 12 motion that permits consideration of hypothetical facts, a motion under CR 56 does not. *Smith v. Reich*, 191 Wash. App. 1038 (2015) (unpublished). The Court of Appeals did not address whether

the statute of limitations would apply to earlier missed payments because the issue can be addressed in the foreclosure proceeding. *Terhune*, 446 P.3d at 693 n.5.

In short, the Court of Appeals correctly found that the issue was not material to the trial court's ruling on reconsideration of its order granting summary judgment. Accordingly, the issue is not one of substantial public interest either and does not support review here.

2. Proof of Ownership of the Loan

The Terhunes also argue that whether a Deed of Trust Act beneficiary declaration can be signed by an agent to establish the beneficiary as the holder of the note raises an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 18. This argument is also not a basis for review because the issue was not material to the trial court's granting of summary judgment.

As noted above, the Court of Appeals found that U.S. Bank and Caliber *shifted the initial burden* on summary judgment with two pieces of evidence in the record: a declaration by an employee at Caliber who reviewed the records and attested to the fact that U.S. Bank possesses the note; and the fact that a beneficiary declaration identifying U.S. Bank as the holder was issued to the trustee. *Terhune*, 446 P.3d at 691. The court explained that this merely shifted the initial burden and the Terhunes then

had the burden to present specific facts that demonstrated a genuine issue

of material fact. Id. The Terhunes failed to do so, instead only challenging

the adequacy of U.S. Bank and Caliber's evidence. Id. Toward that end,

the Court of Appeal noted this Court's prior teaching that an agent may

represent the holder of a note and the RCW specifically approves the use

of agents. *Id.* (citing *Bain*).

Because the Terhunes merely dispute the Court of Appeals finding

on the sufficiency of the evidence, this matter is inappropriate for review

and is not an issue of substantial public interest either.

V. **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, U.S. Bank and Caliber request the Court

deny the Terhunes' petition for review.